ED 429 595	IR 019 571
AUTHOR	Goodman, Dean
TITLE	Validating Factors That Impact on the Success of Distance Learning Initiatives.
PUB DATE	1999-04-22
NOTE	22p.
PUB TYPE	Reports - Research (143)
EDRS PRICE	MF01/PC01 Plus Postage.
DESCRIPTORS	Case Studies; *Distance Education; Educational Research;
	Instructional Design; *Instructional Effectiveness; Material
	Development; Needs Assessment; Nontraditional Education;
	*Program Effectiveness; Program Implementation; Teaching
	Methods

ABSTRACT

This paper reviews an earlier study examining the variables affecting the success of distance learning programs. In 1995, Dr. Ellen Wagner developed a list identifying the following 16 variables which need to be considered if a distance learning program is to be successful: needs assessment; audience analysis; instructional design; course selection; course reconfiguration; lesson planning; interactive instructional strategies; instructional delivery systems; adapting media and materials for distance delivery; developing effective graphics; using facilitators at distance education sites; learner and instructor support services; program evaluation and learner assessment; organized readiness; inter-institutional partnerships; and regulatory environment. Nine case studies and three non-case study journal articles that describe distance learning activities and/or success factors were reviewed to test the validity of these variables. Findings suggest that these variables are generally considered during course design or implementation. The suitability of the factors, however, is dependent on the nature of the organization into which the program is being delivered, and the selection of the delivery mode. Three tables present study results. (AEF)

*******	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	*******	*******	*******	******	* * * * * * * * * * *	******
*	Reproductions	supplied by	EDRS are	the best	that ca	n be made	*
*		from the	original	document	•		*
******	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	*****	*******	*******	* * * * * * * *	* * * * * * * * * * *	******



Validating factors that impact on the success of distance learning initiatives

Dean Goodman

April 22, 1999

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY ______D. Goodman

O THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES

R01957

ΗĪ

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

2

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION

 This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.

Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy. The distance is nothing: it is only the first step that is difficult.

Mme Du Deffand, 1763.



Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
Variables in distance learning	2
METHOD	4
Assumptions and limitations	7
RESULTS	8
DISCUSSION	11
Highest and lowest scores	11
Setting versus media type	12
Additional factors	13
Non-case studies	13
Generic variables	14
CONCLUSION	14
REFERENCE LIST	17
References cited	17
References consulted	17



•

.

Validating factors that impact on the success of distance learning initiatives

Introduction

Distance learning has become big business. In recent years, it has grown beyond being a sub-set of the training and education industry into an industry which stands alone in its own right. But much is still unknown about the industry and the opportunities it brings to an organization.

Research is scarce in the distance learning world. Moore and Kearsley (1996) suggest that the time is right to fill this research void (pp. 211-212). In this theoretical vacuum, however, many organizations are turning to distance learning to give themselves a competitive advantage in the global market place. The success of these endeavors has been mixed and many of these successes have been recorded in the literature in the form of case studies.

But why have some distance learning programs succeeded while others have faltered? What is it that distinguishes a successful distance learning program from an unsuccessful one? If suitable answers to these questions can be found, organizations that follow the advice stand to gain a considerable advantage over their competitors. The number of variables that affect the success of distance learning programs is considerable, however, identifying them is the first step in the pursuit of answers to these questions.

While a large number of case studies are identifiable in the literature, there are far fewer research efforts which seek to identify the factors which are critical to the success of distance learning programs. The reason for this, it is suggested, is that it is very difficult to isolate the primary variables upon which success depends. Nevertheless, studies have been conducted which aim to improve the likelihood of success through the identification of such factors.



Given that the number of variables that affect distance learning are so varied, the usefulness of this type of research must be questioned. Are there too many variables, settings and types of media which can impact on the success of a program? Would the research efforts be better spent in other research areas such as policy, marketing or learner support systems?

The purpose of this paper is to review an earlier study which aims to identify the variables affecting the success of distance learning programs in an attempt to validate the usefulness this type of research.

It is suggested that this research is in an embryonic state and that a start must be made in order to realize the full potential of distance learning projects. As a result, the value of research into identifying critical success factors is worthy of the investment. If the success rate of distance learning programs can be improved, other areas will also improve. Marketing will become easier; investment risks will decrease and organization motivation for this agent of change will increase. This can only have a positive effect on the industry.

Variables in distance learning

In 1993, Dr Ellen Wagner, then an associate professor of Educational Technology at the University of Northern Colorado, published a list of 18 factors which, in Wagner's words:

...represent a broad look at issues which impact on distance education success, whether one is working in post-secondary, K-12, or corporate training environments (Wagner, 1993, p. 28).

By 1995, Wagner had reviewed and refined this list; changing several variables and eliminating others. The list now identifies a total of 16 variables which Wagner suggests need to be considered if a distance learning program is to be successful.

While advances in the application of technology have impacted on the practice of distance learning since 1995, the list still serves as a guide to those issues which demand consideration if the distance learning endeavor is to be successful.



In using the list, Wagner acknowledges that the identified variables need to be applied against a "continuum of issues" (Wagner, 1995, p. 18). She suggests that these issues are situation specific and must be viewed in the context of the particular distance learning environment. They range, she argues, from those concerning the simple classroom application of distance learning programs to those that are more applicable to the corporate boardroom. She also suggests that in reviewing the factors, not all situations can be anticipated. The value of the list, she argues, is in the way it is used to guide and plan the distance learning activities.

The list of variables identified by Wagner and a short justification for inclusion on the list is shown below.

Needs assessment. A needs assessment should be conducted to ensure that the distance learning endeavor is targeted correctly.

Audience analysis. Knowledge of the intended audience will assist in preparing the most appropriate strategy.

Instructional design. A systematic design of the distance learning program will assist in ensuring that the training outcome is suitable for the intended purpose.

Course selection. This may include demand for the course, instructor availability, course uniqueness and/or course adaptability. Courses not suitable for distance delivery are unlikely to succeed.

Course reconfiguration. If the course intended for distance delivery is an existing one, is it's design suitable for distance learning?

Lesson planning. In planning lessons for distance delivery, six elements are needed: knowledge of the learners; a starting point; clear instructional objectives; a vision of the content; practice activities; and an ending point.

Interactive instructional strategies. Active learner participation is critical to the success of distance learning programs.



Instructional delivery systems. The means of delivery must be complete, appropriate and maintained.

Adapting media and materials for distance delivery. A variety of learning styles should be addressed through the creative use of media.

Developing effective graphics. Any graphics used in the delivery of the program need to be designed with the delivery medium in mind.

Using facilitators at distance education sites. Competent facilitators who understand the training objectives and the content will assist the distance learning initiative.

Learner and instructor support services.

The success of a distance learning experience is often determined by the quality of the services that support the educational process (Wagner, 1995, p. 19).

Program evaluation and learner assessment. Evaluation, including learner assessment, should seek to improve both the processes and product of the activity.

Organizational readiness. As an agent of change, any distance learning program must seek organizational support from all levels of the corporate ladder.

Inter-institutional partnerships. The open exchange of information, expertise and ideas will facilitate the success of a distance learning program.

Regulatory environment. The environment into which a distance education program is implemented will have rules and regulations. An understanding of these will increase the likelihood that the activity will be a success.

Method

It is intended to test the validity of these factors by reviewing a number of case studies and journal articles that describe distance learning activities and/or success factors. The case studies and journal articles all relate to organizations that have implemented a distance learning course or program and where the outcome has been positive.



In an attempt to limit the variables impacting on this study, however, not all case studies were accepted for review. The criteria against which case studies were selected are as follows.

- Only case studies which reported the use of electronic media were used (simply in an attempt to reduce the scope of this study and to ensure that the case studies are appropriate to the future of distance learning)..
- Case studies more than five years old were excluded.
- All selected case studies were to provide some degree of description of both the planning and implementation of the identified distance learning activity.

Each of the case studies were reviewed against the factors detailed in Wagner (1995) and an assessment was made regarding whether there was enough evidence to suggest that these factors were taken into consideration during the design or implementation of the course.

Questions were developed to guide the interpretation of the case studies in relating them to Wagner's list of factors. The guiding questions for each of the factors is shown below.

Needs assessment. Is there evidence to suggest that a needs assessment was conducted and used to guide the development or redesign of the course?

Audience analysis. Was an audience analysis conducted either as part of the needs assessment or as an independent analysis?

Instructional design. Is there evidence to suggest that a systematic instructional design method was used in designing or redesigning the course?

Course selection. Was the course selected against criteria and assessed as being suitable for delivery by a distance learning medium?

Course reconfiguration. For existing courses, was the courses specifically redesigned for distance delivery?



5

Lesson planning. Were lessons planned specifically with a distance delivery mode in mind?

Interactive instructional strategies. Was interactivity considered to be an important element in the implementation of the course?

Instructional delivery systems. Was there any evidence to suggest that an analysis of the delivery system was conducted to ensure that it was suitable and readily available for both the delivery institution and the learners?

Adapting media and materials for distance delivery. Were there various adaptations to the media and materials to ensure that a variety of learning styles were accommodated?

Developing effective graphics. Was there any evidence to suggest that the graphics used were suitable for the particular delivery media?

Using facilitators at distance education sites. Were facilitators or tutors used in a face to face role with the learners?

Learner and instructor support services. Was support available to the learners and/or the instructors to assist in learning or instructing by distance means?

Program evaluation and learner assessment. Is there evidence to suggest that the course was evaluated or that learner assessment results were used to assist with the evaluation of the course?

Organizational readiness. Is there evidence to suggest that the course was implemented with the support of the organization?

Inter-institutional partnerships. Was the course a collaborative effort between two or more organizations where information sharing provided a synergist impact on the outcome?

Regulatory environment. Were the limitations or opportunities associated with the regulatory environment considered during the design and implementation of the courses?



₆10

For each positive answer to the above questions, one score was awarded against that particular factor. These were then tallied and the results analyzed in terms of:

- the number of times each factor was identified in the literature; and
- the nature of the context in which the program was implemented compared to the type of media used.

In addition to the case studies, a small number of other articles were included in the analysis. These articles were chosen due to the nature of the data that they presented and the similarity of their aim to the aim of Wagner (1995). The purpose of including these articles was simply to address a potential imbalance that the reporting of the case studies may induce. Stated in another way, some factors may not have been reported due to the obscure nature of the factor itself; not because it was not considered during design or implementation. For example, while the regulatory environment may be an important issue and was considered (even in a subliminal sense), it may not receive much recognition in the cases studies.

The absence of evidence to suggest that the issue was considered may simply be due to the reporting process rather than the events as they occurred. This is not a reflection on the quality of the case study reports but simply a product of the purpose of the reports.

The inclusion of journal articles was designed to counter the argument that if a particular factor was not reported in the case study it does not mean that it was not considered. Inclusion of 'lessons leaned', 'hints and tips' or other relevant articles will balance this potential reporting inadequacy.

Assumptions and limitations

It is assumed that all case studies reviewed were successful. While none of the case studies reported empirical data showing that the course was successful, most indicated that they were successful at least as perceived by the author(s). This assumption is also considered reasonable as most case studies are reported by individuals intimately



involved in the planning and/or implementation of the particular course. As a result, only successful activities are likely to be reported.

The validity of this study is limited by the data collection methods. A review of the literature may not be a true representation of the actual events. A more detailed analysis of the case studies (i.e., an analysis based on data collection methods other than literature reviews) may reveal that more factors than those identified in the paper were assessed. The factors addressed in the literature review, for example, may only be those which are obvious and/or easy to measure. Still others may have been addressed without the knowledge of the designer or Project Manager (e.g., as a routine activity of the organization).

It should also be noted that the methodology only allows for a score of either one or zero to be allocated. This does not recognize the importance the case study or article places on one particular factor when compared with another. In any given article or case study, a single point is awarded regardless of whether a factor is mentioned just once or a dozen times. The relative importance placed on each factor by the case studies was not measured.

One final limitation is the small number of case studies and articles that were reviewed. A larger number would increase the validity of the data.

Results

The results of the literature review revealed that evidence was available to suggest that all of the factors identified by Wagner (1995) were addressed at some stage during the course design or implementation.

A total of nine case studies and three non-case study articles were reviewed. They represented a wide range of settings and media (within the defined limits). A breakdown of the number of case studies and articles reviewed (by setting and media type) is shown in Table 1. Each of the non-case study articles are indicated with an star (*). One star for each non case study.



	Higher education	Business and industry	K-12	No setting indicated	Total
Videoconferencing	1		1	1	3
CD ROM		1			1
Computer conferencing (Asynchronous)	1				1
Internet/Intranet	1			*	2*
Talkback TV	2				2
Teleconferencing	1				1
Not indicated				2**	2**
Total	6	1	1	4	12

Table 1 - Number of case studies and articles reviewed (by setting and media type). A * indicates a non-case study article. Two *'s indicate two non-case study articles.

Table 2 shows the number of articles in which evidence was found to indicate that the factors on Wagner's list had been considered during the design or implementation of the course. It also shows the breakdown by factor for both the case studies and the non-case study articles. Finally, Table 2 shows the mean, high score, low score, standard deviation and the number of factors that fall within one standard deviation from the mean.



	Frequency			
Factors	Case studies n = 9	Other articles n = 3	Total n = 12	
Needs assessment	3	1	4	
Audience analysis	5	2	7	
Instructional design	2	3	5	
Course selection	4	0	4	
Course reconfiguration	1	1	4	
Lesson planning	3	0	3	
Interactive instructional strategies	6	3	9	
Instructional delivery systems	5	0	5	
Adapting media and materials for distance delivery	7	3	10	
Developing effective graphics	2	1	3	
Using facilitators at distance education sites	3	1	4	
Learner and instructor support services	6	1	7	
Program evaluation and learner assessment	5	1	6	
Organizational readiness	4	1	5	
Inter-institutional partnerships	4	0	4	
Regulatory environment	2	1	3	
Mean (mean as a % of n)	4.4 (49%)	1.2 (40%)	5.9 (49%)	
Highest score	7	3	10	
Lowest score	1	0	3	
Standard deviation	1.7	Not calculated	1.9	
Number of factors falling within 1 standard deviation of the mean	11 (68%)	Not calculated	10 (62%)	

 Table 2 - Number of articles in which evidence was found to suggest that the factors had been considered during the design or implementation of the course.

In addition to the factors identified by Wagner, analysis of the case studies revealed that a number of other factors were also considered to be important in the success of the surveyed case studies and articles. While collection of this data was not identified in the



proposed methodology, they represent a good foundation upon which further research may be based. These findings are shown in Table 3.

	Frequency			
Additional factors	Case studies n = 9	Other articles n = 3	Total n = 12	
Understanding of technology by instructors, tutors and learners	3	0	3	
Small number of learners per instructor or tutor	1	0	1	
Adequate budget and resources available	1	2	3	
Suitability of technology (technically, to objectives of course)	2	1	3	
Sound marketing tactics	2	0	2	
Simple administrative procedures	1	0	1	
Good project management skills	1	1	2	
Being learner centered	2	0	2	
Availability of resources	1	0	1	
Total	14	4	18	

Table 3- Other factors considered to be important in the success of distance learning programs

Discussion

Highest and lowest scores

The results described above reveal several trends despite the limited number of case studies and journal articles reviewed. The most significant being that evidence was found to indicate that all factors were considered at least three times throughout the twelve articles (25% of the reviewed literature); although all factors were not considered by any single article. This suggests that the factors identified by Wagner (1995) are recognized as variable which warrant consideration.



The lowest scoring factors were: 'lesson planning', 'developing effective graphics' and 'regulatory environment'. However, this does not mean that these factors were not considered during the design or implementation of the course. Instead, it simply may indicate that the factors were not reported (in either a direct or indirect way) as being considered. It is unlikely, for example, that lessons were prepared without some form of lesson plan.

The lack of reporting of these factors is not a reflection on the quality of the case study reports, but rather a reflection of the fact that the case studies were simply recording the success of a particular course delivered by distance means. They were not seeking to measure success against the Wagner variables.

The highest scoring factor was 'Adapting media and materials for distance delivery' (identified by ten articles or 83% of the reviewed literature), followed closely by 'Interactive instructional strategies' (identified by 9 articles or 75% of the reviewed literature). Both indicate the importance placed on using the media to its fullest and seeking active learner participation in the course.

The interactivity issue was stressed in many of the case studies. Although the relative importance of each factor was not measured, it became clear that interactivity was considered a key element in successful distance learning programs.

Setting versus media type

Table 1 shows the number of articles reviewed by setting and media type. The limited number of case studies and other journal articles reviewed does not allow much meaningful interpretation of the data, however, each cell within this table has the potential to be explored further using the Wagner criteria as a basis for an analysis. If more data was collected, this type of analysis would potentially reveal trends in the type of variables each setting and delivery medium depends upon for success.



Assuming the validity of the analysis could be confirmed, the value of this information would be substantial. In the context of this study, however, analysis of this type was not possible due to the shortage of data.

Additional factors

The study also revealed that there was a wide range of additional factors that warrant consideration during the design and/or implementation of a distance learning program. A total of nine additional variables were identified. The most common factors - 'understanding technology', 'budget' and 'suitability of the technology' – were, on occasion, strongly emphasized in the literature. This indicates that there is a case for Wagner's list to be expanded to include some of these additional factors.

It should also be noted, however, that the identification of these additional factors relied on the subjectivity of the researcher and was largely dependent on the semantics of the case study sentence structure. As a result, several of the factors may in fact have been better placed within one of Wagner's factors.

Non-case studies

While the inclusion of the non-case study articles was aimed at leveling the imbalance that may have been present due to the nature of the case study information, it was shown to be an unnecessary precaution. When looked at in relative terms, the results indicate that there was no significant difference between the case study (only) scores and the total scores. The mean score for these sets of data, for example, were (relative to the number in the sample), exactly the same.

This indicates that the inclusion of non-case study articles aimed at proactively addressing this potential for imbalance was not required. Any future studies of this nature should review case studies only.



13

Generic variables

There were a further nine factors identified which were not included in Wagner's list. This indicates that the range and scope of variables that contribute to the success of distance learning programs is considerable.

The factors identified by Wagner (1995) are valid indicators of the issues which successful distance learning programs should consider during the design or implementation of the program. But the relative importance of each factor will depend upon the individual circumstance associated with the particular program. For example, it is reasonable to assume, based on the findings of this study, that the factors which warrant consideration for a K-12 program which uses videoconferencing will have a different variable emphasis than a business and industry course delivered over the internet.

The conclusion drawn from this is that the determination of a generic and valid set of critical variables is going to present a significant challenge to distance learning professionals interested in this field of research.

Conclusion

The findings from this study indicate that the factors identified by Wagner (1995) are generally considered when designing of implementing distance learning programs. The suitability of the factors, however, is dependent on the nature of the organization into which the program is being delivered, and the selection of delivery mode. Nevertheless, the findings confirm the assertions by Wagner that:

General recommendations cannot anticipate every situation that may arise in specific distance education applications. Nevertheless, they can serve as benchmarks to guide the planning, development, implementation, and evaluation of distance education systems, programs, courses, and services (Wagner, 1995, p. 18).

This assertion of Wagner's, however, is grounded upon the existing body of knowledge regarding the fledgling distance learning industry. Perhaps at some distance point in the future, general recommendations which have been based on sound research and



evaluation, may be able to anticipate the full range of situations that may arise. The field is young; who knows what may be possible.

There is considerable value in pursuing further research in order to develop a generic set of factors which, if considered, will add to the likelihood of success of distance learning projects. The potential outcome is a key set of factors that are able to be used with confidence by any distance learning project manager.

The range of variables across the scope of possible distance learning alternatives and settings, however, makes it difficult to rationalize just one set of generic factors. Instead, a number of variables, ranked in order of importance, may prove easier to develop and more useful until the research reaches a greater level of maturity. In order to achieve this, however (using the methodology employed by this study), a greater number of cases will need to be reviewed and each one, ideally, should be articulated in terms of the variables being analyzed.

Further research in this area is recommended. The identification of variables which impact on the success of distance learning projects will provide a foundation upon which to commence identifying a quantifiable, generic and valid set of critical success factors for the implementation of distance learning programs. In an attempt to reach this goal the following are offered as potential future research questions.

- What are the variables that impact on the success of distance learning programs in various settings and when using different types of media?
- Can a plan be developed to guide research towards developing a comprehensive, yet functional list of variables to assist in successfully designing and implementing distance learning projects? If so, how can it be implemented to coordinate disparate research efforts?
- Is there a format in which case studies can be presented which will facilitate their use in further research?



15¹9

• Is it possible to prioritize the variables that impact on distance learning in terms of importance? Should this be done for each distance learning medium and accommodate the range of distance learning environments?

While these questions represent only a starting point for further research, they also expose the need for a considerable research investment in distance learning. More importantly, however, they represent a starting point for cementing distance learning as a competitive business tool. The potential deserves exploration.



Reference list

References cited

- Moore, M. G., & Kearsley, G. (1996). Distance Education: A systems view. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Wagner, E.D. (1993). Variables affecting distance educational program success. Educational Technology, 33 (4), 28-32.
- Wagner, E.D. (1995). Distance education critical success factors. *Adult Learning*, 7 (4), 18-19, 26.

References consulted

- Andrews, T., & Klease, G. (1998). Challenges of multisite video conferencing: The development of an alternative teaching/learning model. Australian Journal of Educational Technology, 14 (2), 88-97. Available from <http://cleo.murdoch.edu.au/ajet/ajet14/andrews.html> [Accessed March 26, 1999].
- Anonymous. (1996). Should distance learning be rationed?: Point/counter point with Larry Gold & James R. Mingle. *Educom review*, 31 (4). Available from <http://www.educause.edu/pub/er/review/reviewArticles/31448.html> [Accessed March 25, 1999].
- Brown, A. (1997). Designing for learning: What are the essential features of an effective online course? *Australian Journal of Educational Technology*, 13 (2), 115-126.
- Gorski, S. (1994). Credits by cable. *Educom review*, 29 (6). Available from <http://www.educause.edu/pub/er/review/reviewArticles/29626.html> [Accessed April 18, 1999].
- Haynes, R.M., Poyraghabagher, R., & Seu, A. (1997). Interactive distance education alliance (IDEA): Collaborative model delivers on demand. *Technology Horizons in Education (T.H.E.), 24* (8), 60-62.
- Keegan, L., & Rose, S. (1997). The good news about desktop learning. *Training and Development*, June, 24-27.
- Kilby, T. (1997). Lessons learned. *Training*, October, Distance Training Special Supplement, A15.



- Laney, J.D. (1996). Going the distance: Effective instruction using distance learning technology. *Educational Technology*, March-April, 51-54.
- Lawrence, B.H. (1997). Online course delivery: Issues of faculty development. Journal of Educational Technology Systems. 25 (2), 127-131.
- Mitchell, J. (1997). Educational videoconferencing: Critical success factors. Paper presented to the conference 'Delivering flexible learning in training and education' at the Wentworth Hotel, Sydney, Australia. March. Available from <http://www.jma.com.au/videpape.htm> [accessed March 25, 1999].
- Moss, P. (1997). The evolution of policy and practice: Telecommunications-based instruction in Oklahoma. *Technology Horizons in Education (T.H.E.), 24* (9), 58-60.
- Ridley-Smith, C. (1996). Taking the distance out of distance learning. *Training and Development*, May, 87-89.



ł



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)



REPRODUCTION RELEASE

(Specific Document)

I. DOCUMENT IDENTIFICATION:

Tille: Validating factors that impact on the succe distance learning initiatives	ss of
Author(s): Dean Goodman	
Corporate Source:	Publication Date:

II. REPRODUCTION RELEASE:

In order to disseminate as widely as possible timely and significant materials of interest to the educational community, documents announced in the monthly abstract journal of the ERIC system, *Resources in Education* (RIE), are usually made available to users in microfiche, reproduced paper copy, and electronic/optical media, and sold through the ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS) or other ERIC vendors. Credit is given to the source of each document, and, if reproduction release is granted, one of the following notices is affixed to the document.

If permission is granted to reproduce the identified document, please CHECK ONE of the following options and sign the release below.



Sign Here, Please

Documents will be processed as indicated provided reproduction quality permits. If permission to reproduce is granted, but neither box is checked, documents will be processed at Level 1.

Indicated above. Reproduction from the ERIC microfiche or ele- system contractors requires permission from the copyright hold service agencies to satisfy information needs of educators in re-	ctronic/optical media by persons other than ERIC employees and its er. Exception is made for non-profit reproduction by libraries and other ssponse to discrete inquiries."
Signature:	Position:
Printed Name: Dean Goodman	Organization:
Address: 501 Blair Stone road #4024	Telephone Number: (850) 402 1997
dean_goodman@botmail.com	Date: 3 May 1999
<u> </u>	37 OVE

III. DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY INFORMATION (FROM NON-ERIC SOURCE):

If permission to reproduce is not granted to ERIC, *or*, if you wish ERIC to cite the availability of the document from another source, please provide the following information reguarding the availability of the document. (ERIC will not announce a document unless it is publicly available, and a dependable source can be specified. Contributors should also be aware that ERIC selection criteria are significantly more stringent for documents that cannot be made available through EDRS.)

Publisher/Distributor:	
Address:	
Price Per Copy:	Quantity Price:

IV. REFERRAL OF ERIC TO COPYRIGHT/REPRODUCTION RIGHTS HOLDER:

If the right to grant reproduction release is held by someone other than the addressee, please provide the appropriate name and address:

Name and address of current copyright/reproduction rights holder:			
Name:			
Address:			

V. WHERE TO SEND THIS FORM:

Send this form to the following ERIC Clearinghouse:

If you are making an unsolicited contribution to ERIC, you may return this form (and the document being contributed) to:

ERIC Facility 1301 Piccard Drive, Suite 300 Rockville, Maryland 20850-4305 Telephone: (301) 258-5500

